**STATE OF MICHIGAN
IN THE SUPREME COURT**

FRANK ANTHONY SCOLA,

Plaintiff/Appellant,

v

JP MORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A.,
and JP MORGAN CHASE & CO,

Defendant/Appellee.

Supreme Court No. _____

Court of Appeals No. 338966

Wayne County Circuit Court
Case No. 15-002804-NI
Hon. John A. Murphy (P24492)

Steven A. Hicks (P49966)
Attorney for Plaintiff/Appellant
216 North Chestnut Street
Lansing, MI 48933-1061
(517) 881-5564
steve@chair2consulting.com

Robert G. Kamenac (P35283)
PLUNKETT COONEY
Attorneys for Defendants-Appellees
38505 Woodward Avenue, Suite 100
Bloomfield Hills, MI 48304-5096
(248) 901-4000
rkamenec@plunkettcooney.com

APPLICATION FOR LEAVE TO APPEAL

Prepared by:

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court is entitled to exercise its jurisdiction to review a case after a decision in the Court of Appeals under MCR 7.303(B)(1). In a civil case, an application for leave to appeal from the Court of Appeals' decision must be filed with this Court within 42 days. MCR 7.305(C)(2). If a timely motion for reconsideration is filed, as in this case, the 42 day period runs from when an order is issued denying reconsideration. MCR 7.305(C)(2)(c).

Here, the Court of Appeals issued its unpublished per curiam opinion on October 4, 2018. [Exhibit 1, Court of Appeals Unpublished Opinion]. A motion for reconsideration of that split 2-1 decision was timely filed on October 25, 2018. The majority, however, denied reconsideration on November 20, 2018. [Exhibit 2, Order Denying Reconsideration].

This application for leave to appeal was timely filed based on the Court of Appeals' order denying reconsideration.¹ Thus, this Court has discretion to exercise its jurisdiction.

OPINION AND ORDERS APPEALED FROM

Plaintiff/Appellant, Frank Scola, seeks leave to appeal from the unpublished per curiam opinion that was issued by the Court of Appeals in this case on October 4, 2018. [Ex. 1]. In a split 2-1 majority ruling, the Court of Appeals' affirmed the trial court's decision to dismiss Scola's claims against Defendants/Appellees, JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., and JP Morgan & Co, by granting summary disposition under MCR 2.116(C)(10). [Ex. 1].

The trial court previously dismissed Scola's claims on the same grounds as those stated by the majority opinion. [Ex. 1, pp 3-6; Ex. 3, TC Order Granting SD, p 2]. In short,

¹Because the Court of Appeals issued its order denying reconsideration on November, 20, 2018, the deadline for filing was extended to the next business day, January 2, 2019, because New Year's Day is a holiday in Michigan. MCR 1.108(1).

the trial court concluded that Scola's claim was a premises liability, not ordinary negligence, claim, and as such, no duty was owed to Scola because the danger was "open and obvious" and no special aspects made it "unreasonably dangerous". [Ex. 4, SD Mtn Hrg, pp 14-15]. Scola sought reconsideration, but was denied. [Ex. 5, TC Order, Recon Den'd].

On appeal, the majority opinion similarly held that: 1) Scola's claims "sounded in premises liability" because "his injuries occurred from a condition on land, namely, the lack of signage" that would have warned motorists exiting the bank's parking lot as instructed not to turn the wrong-way when exiting onto the one-way street; 2) "the lack of signage [informing motorists that the bank's parking lot exited onto a one-way street] "was open and obvious" and 3) "no special aspects of the bank's parking lot removed it from the open and obvious doctrine", as it was not an "unreasonably dangerous or effectively unavoidable" condition that posed "a uniquely high likelihood of harm or severity of harm". [Ex. 1, pp 4-5].

The dissenting judge agreed that the case was a premises liability claim, and not an ordinary negligence claim, but disagreed with the majority's conclusion that the danger posed was open and obvious, concluding instead that it was "not reasonable to expect that an average person with ordinary intelligence would discover upon casual inspection that the intersecting road is a one-way, westbound road." [Ex. 1, Cavanagh, p 3]. For the dissenting judge, whether "defendants had a duty to warn drivers exiting their parking lot that they must only turn left" to avoid going the wrong way on a one-way street was a material fact question based on the record evidence in this case. [Ex. 1, Cavanagh, p 3].

Scola sought reconsideration, but his motion was denied on November 20, 2018, again in a split 2-1 ruling with the same judge dissenting. [Ex. 2, COA Order, Recon Den'd].

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

I. Should leave be granted to address whether the lower courts correctly held that this case was a premises liability claim only, and not an ordinary negligence claim, as alleged, where motorists exiting defendant's parking lot were instructed to do so onto a one-way street without being warned, cautioned, or otherwise instructed not to turn the wrong-way?

Plaintiff/Appellant says "Yes".

Defendant/Appellee says "No".

The lower courts would say "No".

II. Should leave be granted to address whether the lower courts correctly held that the danger posed to motorists exiting from defendant's parking lot onto a one-way street was open and obvious and without any special aspects that made it unreasonably dangerous?

Plaintiff/Appellant says "Yes".

Defendants/Appellees says "No".

The lower courts would say "No".

GROUNDINGS FOR APPEAL

The issue in this case “involves a legal principle of major significance to this state’s jurisprudence” because, as things currently stand, the outcome in similar personal injury cases depends almost completely on the judge (or judges) reviewing the case. MCR 7.305(B)(3). Without direction from this Court, some judges will analyze similar such cases as premises liability claims (and likely dismiss almost all such cases on open and obvious grounds) while other judges will view similar such cases as ordinary negligence claims (and thus, be less willing to summarily dismiss such cases on the grounds that no duty is owed).

The result in such personal injury cases should not depend so heavily on judges assessing whether the claim alleged “sounds” in premises liability or ordinary negligence. Yet, as things currently stand, that difficult (and largely subjective) assessment by judges is far too often the key to whether such cases survive summary disposition and go to trial. That was not the case before this Court issued its seminal ruling on premises liability in *Lugo v Ameritech Corp*, 464 Mich 512, 629 NW2d 384 (2001), and further empowered judges to dismiss cases on open and obvious grounds, by concluding no duty was owed.²

The number of appellate rulings, published and unpublished, where the issue of whether the case sounded in premises liability or ordinary negligence has grown rapidly since this Court modified how the open and obvious rule would be applied in *Lugo*.

²See *Langen v Rushton*, 138 Mich App 672, 360 NW2d 270 (1984), in which the Court of Appeals applied a duty analysis consistent with an ordinary negligence claim (and not a premises liability claim) in a factually similar case where a motorist exiting a shopping mall parking lot onto a busy street was injured because the motorist’s view of oncoming traffic was obstructed and the mall owner did nothing to correct that problem.

Moreover, it is clear (even by reviewing published cases only) that judicial determinations of whether a case is a premises or ordinary negligence claim is not consistent or uniform.³

Unlike Michigan, most other jurisdictions have moved away from placing labels on such tort claims to determine if a duty was owed, and if so, whether it was breached. In fact, the trend nationally is towards a unitary standard for such negligence claims, which not only shifts the focus from determining the status of the injured person but also recognizes that the same (or similar) duty to use reasonable care applies both to those who own or possess land and to those injured by a dangerous condition that exists or is created. [Ex. 6, Restatement of Torts 3d, Liability for Physical and Emotional Harm, ¶ 51, pp 242-252].

The existing confusion in Michigan over whether a case is a premises liability or ordinary negligence claim not only illustrates existing problems with the approach taken by the Rest Torts 2d, it underscores the impetus for the evolution that is occurring in tort law nationally, as demonstrated by the Rest Torts 3d. In Michigan, it is even more significant an issue than in other states as this Court deviated from the Rest Torts 2d in crafting its own test for premises cases in *Lugo*. See Marks, John *The Limit to Harms Caused by “Known or Obvious” Dangers: Will it Trip and Fall Over Duty-Breach Framework Emerging in The Restatement (Third) of Torts?*, 38 Tex. Tech. L. Rev. 1 (2005-2006), pp 57-61. [Exhibit 7].

Recently, this Court had an opportunity to address the confusion over whether a case that is factually similar to this one “sounds in premises liability” or is instead, an

³See generally, *Laier v Kitchen*, 266 Mich App 482, 702 NW2d 199 (2005); *James v Alberts*, 464 Mich 12, 626 NW2d 158 (2001); *Hiner v Mojica*, 271 Mich App 604, 615; 722 NW2d 914 (2006); *Kwiatkowski v Coachlight Estates of Blissfield, Inc.*, 480 Mich 1062; 743 NW2d 917 (2008). Cf. *Jahnke v Allen*, 308 Mich App 472, 865 NW2d 49 (2014); *Buhalis v Trinity Continuing Care Servs*, 296 Mich App 685, 822 NW2d 254 (2012); *Compau v Pioneer Res Co*, 498 Mich 928, 871 NW2d 210 (2015); *Kachudas v Invaders Self Auto Wash*, 486 Mich 913, 781 NW2d 806 (2010).

ordinary negligence claim (to which the open and obvious danger doctrine does not apply), when it reviewed the Court of Appeals' decision in *Fowler v Menard, Inc*, unpublished per curiam opinion of the Court of Appeals, Docket No. 310890, dated September 25, 2015. Presumably, this Court opted to review the *Fowler* case more closely because it recognized the significance of its "open and obvious" issues to our state's jurisprudence. For the same or similar reasons, leave to appeal should be granted in this case under MCR 7.305(B)(3).

In *Fowler*, this Court agreed to hear oral argument on whether to grant leave to appeal or take other action. 499 Mich 908, 877 NW2d 873 (2016). After oral argument, leave was denied, thus letting stand the majority ruling. 500 Mich 1025, 897 NW2d 166 (2017). Thus, this Court implicitly affirmed the Court of Appeals' holding in the *Fowler* case.

The Court of Appeals' ruling in this case, however, is not consistent with what was said in the *Fowler* case, because, the majority in *Fowler*, clearly understood that it was an ordinary negligence claim. By letting stand the Court of Appeals' decision in the *Fowler*, case, this Court only added to existing confusion over how such cases should be analyzed. Simply put, the *Fowler* case cannot be easily reconciled with the outcome in this case. This Court should grant leave to appeal in this case under MCR 7.305(B)(5)(b), because it "conflicts with a Supreme Court decision or another decision of the Court of Appeals".

Leave to appeal also should be granted in this case under MCR 7.305(B)(5)(a) because the Court of Appeals' majority ruling that this case "sounds in premises liability" is "clearly erroneous" – as is its holding that the danger posed was "open and obvious" (without any "special aspects"). Therefore, it will cause material injustice if not reversed. Alternatively, this Court should peremptorily reverse and remand this case to the trial court for further proceedings, including trial, on the ordinary negligence claim. MCR 7.305(H)(1).

INTRODUCTION

Frank Scola was injured in a motor vehicle accident when he was seven years old. He was a passenger in his mother's car when she exited the Chase Bank parking lot onto Michigan Avenue by turning right. By turning right, she went the wrong way on a one-way street. Moments later, she and her son were involved in a head-on motor vehicle collision.

Scola subsequently sued Chase Bank, alleging that the exit from its parking lot onto westbound Michigan Avenue was not "reasonably safe" for exiting motorists because it did not inform them that Michigan Avenue is a one-way street, running westbound, and consequently, that no one should turn right when exiting from its parking lot onto Michigan.

The trial court summarily dismissed Scola's claims against Chase Bank, concluding that the danger of turning the wrong-way on a one-way street when exiting the parking lot was open and obvious, and no "special aspects" made it "unreasonably dangerous". In so holding, the trial court also rejected Scola's contention that the open and obvious rule did not apply because he alleged an ordinary negligence claim, not a premises liability claim.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's decision to dismiss Scola's claims against Chase Bank on "open and obvious" grounds in a split 2-1 unpublished ruling. It rejected his argument that open and obvious did not apply to an ordinary negligence claim, concluding instead that he alleged that the dangerous condition was the "lack of signage" on its premises cautioning motorists that the bank parking lot exited onto a one-way street.

In actuality, the complaint in this case clearly identified the dangerous condition as being the one-way street where motorists exited from the Chase Bank parking lot. Here, it was not simply the "lack of signage" cautioning motorists not to turn right that endangered

motorists exiting the Chase Bank parking lot, it was the fact that exiting motorists were instructed to exit onto Michigan Avenue without being informed that it is a one-way street.

Simply put, “lack of signage” alone is not a dangerous condition. Signage, when used improperly (or not employed at all), exposes a person unnecessarily to a risk of being harmed. Here, the risk of harm was that motorists exiting the parking lot as instructed could end up in a head-on collision by mistakenly turning the wrong-way on a one-way street.

Putting signs up instructing motorists to exit onto a one-way street exposed them to a risk of harm. Failing to caution them not to turn right because it was a one-way street is what allegedly breached the duty to use due care to protect them from that harm, especially when, as in this case, there was ample notice that all too often motorists exiting the parking lot did not recognize that it was a one-way street and they could turn left only.

As with many other recent Michigan cases, the outcome in this tort action depended on whether it was viewed as a premises liability claim or as an ordinary negligence claim. Contrary to the conclusion that was reached by judges in both the trial court and on appeal, this case does not fit easily within the traditional confines of a premises liability claim.

Again, the hazard here is not “lack of signage” on the premises owned by Chase Bank, it is the danger of a head-on collision with on-coming traffic on a one-way street. Signage (or the lack of it) is not the dangerous condition, it just actively contributes to motorists exiting from the Chase Bank parking lot encountering that dangerous condition.

Chase Bank’s parking lot was designed to encourage motorists to exit from its parking lot onto a one-way street. Yet, nothing was done by Chase Bank to caution, warn, instruct, or inform exiting motorists not to turn right because it was a one-way street. In short, Chase Bank told its exiting motorists that they must go in a direction that would put

them on a one-way street without bothering to inform them that it was a one-way street. Yet, according to the lower courts, the claim that Chase Bank actively contributed to motorists going the wrong way on a one-way street when exiting from its parking lot is not a viable tort claim because the danger posed by the one-way street was open and obvious.

In *Fowler*, however, the Court of Appeals reached a very different conclusion (and this Court saw no reason to disturb that ruling). Similarly, in *Langen*, the Court of Appeals in a factually similar case affirmed years ago a trial court's decision to deny summary disposition by applying a duty analysis more akin to ordinary negligence than premises. The decision in this particular case is inconsistent and conflicts with *Fowler* and *Langen*. Even more troubling is the fact that it is but one case where the "open and obvious" rule has been misapplied by the lower courts in cases asserting an ordinary negligence claim.

Effectively, the Court of Appeals' holding that this case "sounds in premises liability" and that the "open and obvious" danger doctrine precludes this claim exonerates defendants from any potential liability in similar such cases for failing to use reasonable care to protect individuals from being harmed by known dangerous conditions. Such unjust outcomes unduly punish injured persons for failing to recognize potential hazards even though such considerations are better left for the jury to assess when fault is apportioned. If rulings such as the Court of Appeals' decision in this case are not reversed, there is simply no reason to protect other persons from being harmed even if the danger is known.

This Court should either grant leave to appeal and clarify the distinction between ordinary negligence and premises liability claims or peremptorily reverse the lower courts' determination that this case sounds in premises liability and thus, no duty was owed because the danger of turning the wrong-way was open and obvious to exiting motorists.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On June 27, 2003, Kathleen Scola was driving her station wagon to a job interview at a local testing center in Wayne, Michigan. Her children (including Frank), her sister, and her sister's children were also in the station wagon. [Ex. 11, K. Scola Dep Tr, pp 10-12, 14-15]. She planned to take Wayne Road south to Michigan Avenue and then travel east on Michigan. Because she was not familiar with the area, she was looking for Michigan Avenue as she traveled southbound on Wayne Road. [Ex. 11, K. Scola Dep Tr, pp 16-24].

Chase Bank is located at the southeast corner of Wayne Road and westbound Michigan. In Wayne, Michigan, there is roughly one-mile stretch of Michigan Avenue (US-12) where westbound Michigan and Eastbound Michigan are divided by several city blocks. That is not the case in any other section of Michigan between I-275 and Telegraph Road. Wayne Road is close to where Michigan turns back into a road with a divided median only.

As Ms. Scola drove south on Wayne Road, she traveled through a busy intersection. As she did so, she saw that it was Michigan. Believing she had missed her turn, she immediately pulled into the Chase Bank parking lot. [Ex. 11, K. Scola Dep Tr, pp 16-24].

After pulling in, Ms. Scola continued straight in the Chase Bank parking lot. She was looking for a way to get back to Michigan Avenue. Heading eastbound in the parking lot, she saw that the bank's teller lanes to her left exited onto Michigan. She drove left towards Michigan. As she drove past the bank's teller lanes, she saw a blue sign that marked the exit from the parking lot onto Michigan. [Ex. 11, K. Scola Dep Tr, pp 16-24].

There was only one sign near the exit from the Chase Bank parking lot onto Michigan. It was a large blue sign belonging to Chase Bank that said "Exit Only". [Ex. 9, Photograph, Exit from Chase Bank onto Michigan (2003)]. In 2003, that blue "exit only" sign

was located to the right of where motorists using the teller lanes would exit onto Michigan. There was also a yellow pavement arrow that instructed motorists leaving the area with the teller lanes to simply go straight ahead in order to exit onto Michigan. [Ex. 10, Photograph].

There were no signs informing Ms. Scola that she must turn left when exiting from the Chase Bank parking lot because Michigan Avenue is a one-way street that runs westbound. [Ex. 11, K. Scola Dep Tr, pp 49-50]. Not recognizing that she was exiting onto a one-way street, Ms. Scola turned right onto westbound Michigan and she and her family were involved in a head-on motor vehicle collision. [K. Scola Dep, pp 28-29]. Her son, Frank, age 7, was the one most seriously injured in the collision. [K. Scola Dep, pp 78-79].

Ms. Scola was neither the first person nor the last person to turn the wrong way onto Michigan when exiting from the Chase Bank parking lot. The jewelry store owner whose shop is located across the street from Chase Bank on Michigan, David Zuckerman, testified that he saw motorists turn right “almost daily” when exiting from the Chase Bank parking lot onto Michigan. [Ex. 12, Zuckerman, pp 29-30]. Before 2003, he told the bank as much, but nothing changed. [Ex. 12, Zuckerman, pp 32-36 and 38]. The police officer who investigated the collision that injured Frank Scola confirmed Zuckerman’s testimony that vehicles turning right onto westbound Michigan was common. [Ex. 13, Puckett, p 24].

Walter Cygan, an expert in safety engineering, attested that “the bank had the main responsibility for minimizing this dangerous condition” by adding warning signs for motorists “because they knew about the exposure for several years, but did nothing to minimize it”. [Ex. 14, Cygan Letter, p 2]. He also testified that the blue “exit only” sign at Chase Bank’s parking lot was “defective” because it did not inform exiting motorists that Michigan Avenue was one-way street that runs westbound. [Ex. 15, Cygan Dep Tr, p 126].

Timothy Robbins, an accident reconstruction expert with specialized expertise in signs, basically agreed with Cygan that the lack of signs warning motorists that Michigan was a one-way street posed a danger for exiting vehicles. [Ex. 16, Robbins Dep Tr, pp 38-39].

When he reached adulthood, Frank Scola filed a lawsuit based on the serious personal injuries that he sustained in the motor vehicle collision that occurred in 2003. He sued both drivers involved in the collision. He also sued Chase Bank, alleging that it was negligent because neither its parking lot design nor its signage instructing motorists to exit onto Michigan warned motorists not to turn left because it is a one-way street westbound.

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