STATE OF MICHIGAN
IN THE SUPREME COURT

FRANK ANTHONY SCOLA,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION, and JPMORGAN CHASE & CO.,

Defendants-Appellees,

and

KATHLEEN SCOLA and ESTATE OF
JOHN BARROW BROWN (DECEASED), and
CITY OF WAYNE, jointly and severally,

Defendants.

SC No. 158903
COA No. 338966
LC No. 15-002804-NI
(Wayne Circuit Court)

DEFENDANTS-APPELLEES' ANSWER TO APPLICATION FOR LEAVE TO APPEAL

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

ARGUMENT I

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DETERMINED THAT PLAINTIFF'S CLAIM SOUNDS IN PREMISES LIABILITY AND FAILS BECAUSE THE ALLEGED CONDITION WAS OPEN AND OBVIOUS AND HAD NO SPECIAL ASPECTS.

A. Standard of review and supporting authority.

The Court reviews de novo a trial court's decision on a motion for summary disposition. *Dybata v Wayne Co*, 287 Mich App 635, 638; 791 NW2d 499 (2010). A motion for summary disposition under MCR 2.116(C)(8) tests the legal sufficiency of the pleadings alone. *Johnson-McIntosh v City of Detroit*, 266 Mich App 318, 322; 701 NW2d 179 (2005). In evaluating a motion under MCR 2.116(C)(8), a court considers only the pleadings and "[a]ll well-pleaded factual allegations are accepted as true and construed in a light most favorable to the nonmovant." *Maiden v Rozwood*, 461 Mich 109, 119-120; 597 NW2d 817 (1999). Summary disposition is appropriate "only where the claims alleged are so clearly unenforceable as a matter of law that no factual development could possibly justify recovery." *Id.* at 119 (citation and quotation marks omitted).

A motion for summary disposition under MCR 2.116(C)(10) tests the factual sufficiency of the complaint. *Corely v Detroit Bd of Ed*, 470 Mich 274, 278; 681 NW2d 343 (2004). The Court reviews a motion brought under this rule by considering the pleadings, admissions, and other evidence submitted by the parties in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Latham v Barton Malow Co*, 480 Mich 105, 111; 746 NW2d 868 (2008). Summary disposition is appropriate if there is no genuine issue

regarding any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Id.* A genuine issue of material fact exists when reasonable minds could differ on an issue after viewing the record in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. *Allison v AEW Capital Mgmt, LLP*, 481 Mich 419, 425; 751 NW2d 8 (2008).

Additionally, “[t]his Court reviews for an abuse of discretion a trial court’s decision on a motion for reconsideration.” *In re Estate of Moukalled*, 269 Mich App 708, 713; 714 NW2d 400 (2006). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court’s decision is outside the range of reasonable and principled outcomes.” *Smith v Khouri*, 481 Mich 519, 526; 751 NW2d 472 (2008).

B. Introduction – summary.

Plaintiff alleged that the Chase Defendants’ driveway lacked warning signs, directional signs, or other traffic control devices to inform Ms. Scola of the one-way nature of West Michigan Avenue, and that this condition caused the accident and Plaintiff’s injuries. Such assertions constitute allegations of a dangerous condition on the land, i.e., on the Chase Defendants’ driveway, and therefore, Plaintiff’s claim sounds in premises liability and is subject to the open and obvious doctrine. Here, any alleged dangerous condition in a driveway that opens onto a one-way street but which has no directional or warning signs is open and obvious because an average user with ordinary intelligence knows of the potential risk and danger of being hit by a car if driving the wrong way on a one-way street and, most importantly, an average driver with ordinary intelligence would have been able to discover the danger and the risk presented upon

casual inspection. Plaintiff did not preserve the question of “special aspects” and even had he done so, the only special aspect asserted here – unreasonably dangerous – is inapplicable under the facts presented. The trial court thus properly granted summary disposition to the Chase Defendants.

C. Governing law.

In a premises liability action, a plaintiff must prove the elements of negligence: (1) the defendant owed the plaintiff a duty, (2) the defendant breached that duty, (3) the breach was the proximate cause of the plaintiff's injury, and (4) the plaintiff suffered damages. *Benton v Dart Properties, Inc*, 270 Mich App 437, 440; 715 NW2d 335 (2006). The duty owed depends on the plaintiff's status. “Michigan has recognized three common-law categories for persons who enter upon the land or premises of another: (1) trespasser, (2) licensee, or (3) invitee.” *Stitt v Holland Abundant Life Fellowship*, 462 Mich 591, 596; 614 NW2d 88 (2000), as amended (Sept. 19, 2000). “A ‘trespasser’ is a person who enters upon another's land, without the landowner's consent. The landowner owes no duty to the trespasser except to refrain from injuring him by willful and wanton misconduct.” *Id.* (citation and quotation marks omitted). “A ‘licensee’ is a person who is privileged to enter the land of another by virtue of the possessor's consent. A landowner owes a licensee a duty only to warn the licensee of any hidden dangers the owner knows or has reason to know of, if the licensee does not know or have reason to know of the dangers involved. The landowner owes no duty of

inspection or affirmative care to make the premises safe for the licensee's visit.” *Id.*

(citations omitted). With respect to an “invitee,” this Court has explained:

“An ‘invitee’ is a person who enters upon the land of another upon an invitation which carries with it an implied representation, assurance, or understanding that reasonable care has been used to prepare the premises, and make it safe for the invitee’s reception. The landowner has a duty of care, not only to warn the invitee of any known dangers, but the additional obligation to also make the premises safe, which requires the landowner to inspect the premises and, depending upon the circumstances, make any necessary repairs or warn of any discovered hazards. Thus, an invitee is entitled to the highest level of protection under premises liability law.”

Id. at 596–597.

The trial court decided the case by assuming that Plaintiff was an invitee.³ Absent special aspects, a landowner’s duty to an invitee “generally does not require the owner to protect an invitee from open and obvious dangers.” *Benton*, 270 Mich App at 440–441. If “the dangers are known to the invitee or are so obvious that the invitee might reasonably be expected to discover them, an invitor owes no duty to protect or warn the invitee unless he should anticipate harm despite knowledge of it on behalf of the invitee.” *Ververis v Hartfield Lanes*, 271 Mich App 61, 64; 718 NW2d 382 (2006) (citation omitted).

³ As noted by the Majority Opinion, the trial court did not determine the status of Plaintiff while he was on the premises of the Chase Defendants. (**Exhibit Q**, Majority Opinion, p 3). In the unlikely event this case returns for further trial, analysis of the open and obvious question assuming Plaintiff was an invitee is not an admission or a concession that Plaintiff has established such status.

When determining if a condition is open and obvious, this Court considers whether “it is reasonable to expect that an average user with ordinary intelligence would have been able to discover the danger and the risk presented upon casual inspection.” *Hoffner*, 492 Mich at 461. “This is an objective standard, calling for an examination of the objective nature of the condition of the premises at issue.” *Id.* (citation omitted). Indeed, “[t]he objective standard recognizes that a premises owner is not required to anticipate every harm that may arise as a result of the idiosyncratic characteristics of each person who may venture onto his land. This standard thus provides predictability in the law.” *Id.* at n 15.

Finally, it is well established that “even when the plaintiff alleges that the premises possessor created the condition giving rise to the plaintiff's injury,” “the action sounds in premises liability rather than ordinary negligence,” and is thus subject to the open and obvious doctrine. *Buhalis v Trinity Continuing Care Services*, 296 Mich App 685, 691-92; 822 NW2d 254, app den 493 Mich 901(2012).

D. Argument.

- 1. Plaintiff alleged that the lack of signage in the Chase Defendants’ driveway was a defect and constituted a dangerous condition on the premises, and therefore, his claim sounds in premises liability.**

Plaintiff’s amended complaint alleges that a defect on the Chase Defendants’ property – a lack of directional signs, warnings, or other traffic control devices related to the one-way nature of Michigan Avenue – caused Ms. Scola’s accident and thus

Plaintiff's injuries. Plaintiff has alleged a dangerous condition on the land, meaning that his claim sounds in premises liability and is subject to the open and obvious doctrine.

Plaintiff protests that the "one-way nature of Michigan Avenue" is a dangerous condition but it is not present on Plaintiff's land, and therefore, his claim is not one that sounds in premises liability but ordinary negligence. (Plaintiff's Application, pp 11-13). However, "[t]he gravamen of an action is determined by reading the claim as a whole and looking beyond the procedural labels to determine the exact nature of the claim." *Tipton v William Beaumont Hosp*, 266 Mich App 27, 33; 697 NW2d 552 (2005) (quotation marks and citations omitted).

For example, in *Buhalis*, a cyclist filed a negligence complaint against a nursing home after she had slipped and fell on ice in the patio area of the nursing home. Plaintiff argued that the property design allowed ice to form on the patio. In an attempt to avoid the open and obvious doctrine, by which no duty of care extends to protect a plaintiff from an open and obvious condition, the plaintiff pled that her action sounded in negligence, and therefore was not subject to the open and obvious doctrine. The trial court agreed and denied the nursing home's motion for summary disposition. The Court of Appeals reversed, rejecting the plaintiff's argument that a negligence claim could be maintained under the theory that the employees caused the dangerous condition at issue. "[T]his allegation does not transform the claim into one for ordinary negligence." *Buhalis*, 296 Mich App at 692. The *Buhalis* court reasoned that the plaintiff had

specifically alleged that she was injured when she slipped and fell on ice, “that is, she alleged that she was injured when she encountered a dangerous condition on Trinity’s premises.” Thus the claim was one for premises liability, not ordinary negligence, and subject to the open and obvious danger doctrine.

The *Buhalis* rule was followed in *Holcomb v GWT, Inc*, No. 325410, 2016 WL 805635 (Mich App March 1, 2016), app den 500 Mich 866; 885 NW2d 254 (2016) (unpublished) (**Exhibit L**), which, like this case, involves an accident that occurred as a vehicle exited a parking lot. In *Holcomb*, the plaintiff was riding his bike down a sidewalk when a patron of the defendant restaurant pulled out of the establishment’s driveway and hit the plaintiff. The driver contended that his view of the sidewalk was obstructed by trees planted at the intersection of the driveway and parking lot. The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court’s conclusion that the claim sounded in premises liability. Relying on *Buhalis*, the Court explained,

“[The plaintiff’s] claim is based on a condition of the land. He asserted that the existing landscaping obscured the line of sight between southbound travelling pedestrians and vehicles exiting via the driveway. This is similar to the claim in *Buhalis* that the property design allowed ice to accumulate on the patio. Accordingly, the claim sounded in premises liability. The claim was not converted into one for ordinary negligence simply because [the plaintiff] alleged that [the restaurant] created the condition by failing to adequately maintain the trees.”

Id. at *3. See also *Campbell v HJ Larson, Inc*, 2013 WL 2360544 at *2 (Mich App No. 308496, May 30, 2013) (unpublished) (**Exhibit M**), citing this Court’s opinion of *James v Alberts*, 464 Mich 12, 18-19; 626 NW2d 158 (2001) (The plaintiff’s claim that she tripped

on a folded serving tray stand leaning against the wall at a Holiday Inn “plainly directly emanates from the Holiday Inn’s duty as the owner, possessor, or occupier of the property,” and therefore, the claim sounded in premises liability, not negligence.)

The same result must follow here. Plaintiff based his “negligence” claim on the Chase Defendants’ design and maintenance of their driveway, i.e., their premises, and expressly states that a dangerous condition existed thereon. Specifically, the amended complaint asserts that the Chase Defendants “assumed responsibility for placement of traffic control signals, lane markings, channelization, and all other matters relating to the design, construction, and maintenance of [the Bank One’s] parking lot/driveway” (**Exhibit A**, First Amended Complaint, ¶ 43 (emphasis added)). Further, Plaintiff asserted that the Chase Defendants had a “duty to maintain the transition from its private driveway/parking lot to West Michigan Avenue in a condition safe and fit for public travel” and that the lack of proper signage or traffic control devices “was an unsafe and defective condition.” (*Id.*, ¶¶ 44-45 (emphasis added)).

These allegations – that the Chase Defendants created a dangerous condition (by failing to install proper signage) on the land (i.e., the Bank One’s driveway), which caused Plaintiff’s alleged injuries – are properly considered premises liability in nature. Plaintiff is alleging that the Chase Defendants’ liability “arises solely from the defendant's duty as an owner, possessor, or occupier of land.” *Buhalis*, 296 Mich App at 692. The rule articulated in *Buhalis* defeats Plaintiff’s argument here that the dangerous

condition on the Chase Defendants' property which caused an accident on Michigan Avenue somehow transforms the claim from premises liability to ordinary negligence, and insulates Plaintiff's liability theories from the open and obvious doctrine. Therefore, the trial court correctly determined that Plaintiff's claim is one of premises liability, not ordinary negligence, and the open and obvious doctrine applies.⁴

2. Plaintiff's claim fails because any dangerous condition in a driveway that opens onto a one-way street but which has no directional or signs is open and obvious.

As discussed, the duty a premises owner owes to an invitee does not extend to open and obvious dangers. *Ververis*, 271 Mich App at 64. "[T]he open and obvious doctrine should not be viewed as some type of 'exception' to the duty generally owed invitees, but rather as an integral part of the definition of that duty." *Lugo v Ameritech Corp, Inc*, 464 Mich 512, 516; 629 NW2d 385 (2001). "[U]nder ordinary circumstances, the overriding public policy of encouraging people to take reasonable care for their own safety precludes imposing a duty on the possessor of land to make ordinary conditions

⁴ As can be gleaned from the language in the amended complaint, Plaintiff's allegations also encompass design defect claims. See (**Exhibit A**, First Amended Complaint, ¶ 43) (the Chase Defendants "assumed responsibility for placement of traffic control signals, lane markings, channelization, and all other matters relating to the design, construction, and maintenance of its parking lot/driveway"). Any separate design defect claim is likewise subject to the open and obvious doctrine. See *Palmer v Cendant Corp*, 2002 WL 31105278, at *3 (Mich App No. 234006, September 20, 2002) (**Exhibit N**), citing *Milliken v Walton Manor Mobile Home Park, Inc*, 234 Mich App 490; 595 NW2d 152 (1999) and *Joyce v Rubin*, 249 Mich App 231, 235-237; 642 NW2d 360 (2002), ("Because plaintiffs' design defect claim concerned a condition on the land, the open and obvious doctrine applies.").

foolproof.” *Hoffner v Lanctoe*, 492 Mich 450, 460; 821 NW2d 88 (2012), quoting *Bertrand v Alan Ford, Inc*, 449 Mich 606, 616-617; 537 NW2d 185 (1995) (internal punctuation omitted, emphasis added). Here, the Chase Defendants were not required to make their driveway foolproof for inattentive and distracted drivers.

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